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Statement

This is an appeal from an order of the Appel-
late Division of the First Department unani-
mously affirming a judgment of the Court of
(teneral Sessions of the County of New York
convicting the defendant-appellant of the erimes
of conspiracy and econtriving, proposing and
drawing lotteries. The appeal comes to this
Court by permission of Hon. Trving ILehman,
Chief Judge of this Court, pursuant to an order
certifying that questions of law are involved
which should be reviewed by the Court of Ap-
peals (fol. 11561, et seq.).

The indietment was returned on May 26th,
1938, at an Extraordinary Term of the Supreme
Court, New York Countv. On June 9th, 193§,
appellant demurred to the indictment, which de-
murrer was thereafter and on July 11th, 1938,
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overruled by Mr. Justice Pecora. Appellant was
then placed on trial at said Extraordinary Term,
before Mr. Justice Pecora and a jury. The trial
commenced on August 17th, 1938, and continued
until September 12th, 1938, upon which date
Mr. Justice Pecora declared a mistrial by reason
of improper cross-examination on the part of the
District Attorney. ‘

Thereafter, on application of the District At-
torney, the action was transferred to the Court
of General Sessions and came on for trial in that
Court on January 23rd, 1939 before Judge
Charles C. Nott, Jr., and a jury. The trial con-
tinued until Febrnary 25th, 1939, upon which
date the jury rendered a verdict of guilty upon
all of the counts contained in the indictment and
appellant was thereafter, on March 23rd, 1939,
sentenced by Judge Nott to an aggregate term
of imprisonment of not less than four and not
more than eight vears.

Execution of the sentence was staved pending
appeal to the Appellate Division, pursuant to a
certificate of reasonable doubt granted by Alr.
Justice Peter Schmuek of the Supreme Court,
New York County, and defendant was admitted
to bail in the sum of $35,000.00 pending the hear-
mg and determination of the appeal. The opinion
vendered by Mr, Justice Schmuck upon the grant-
ing of the application for the certificate iz re-
ported at 12 N. Y. Supp. (2nd) 454

The judgment of conviction was affirmed hy
the Appellate Division on January 26th, 1940, by
a Per Curiam Opinion (fol. 11572, ¢f «eq.).
Therealter and on January 30th, 1940, an appli-
ation for leave to appeal was granted hy the
Chief Judge of this Court and the defendant’s
bhail was continued pending the determination
thereof.
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The Indictment (foL 10, et seq.)

The indictment herein contains thirteen counts,
the first of which (Count 1) charges that from
in or about March, 1931, to and including Janu-
ary 13th, 1937, appellant and others therein
named conspired together to commit the erimes
of ““contriving, proposing and drawing lotteries
and keeping, oceupving and using places, rooms
and apparatus for poliev plaving”’. Fifteen
overt acts In furtherance of the conspiracy are
alleged to have heen committed upon dates rang-
ing from Mareh, 1931, to April 25th, 1936.

The remaining twelve counts of the indictment
(Counts 2 to 13 inclusive) charge the same de-
fendaats with contriving, proposing and drawing
and assisting in contriving, proposing and draw-
ing lotteries known under the name of the
“numbers game® and ““policy’’, upon certain
dates therein specified between Mav 29th, 1933,
and October 22nd, 1935, each count charging a
separate violation upon a separate date.
~ The charge set forth in Count 1 is a misde-
meanor, being a violation of Section 58D, Penal
Law.

The charges set forth in Counts 2 to 13, inclu-
sive, are telonies, heing violations of Seetion
1372, Penal Law.

The Facts

Omitting non-cssential details, the following is
a summary of the proof adduced upon the trial
in support of the charges contained in the in-
dietment;

For some veavs prior to 1931, certain gcambling

cames commonly known under the name of the
X3

vimbers game”” and “poliey’ were heing oper-
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ated in the City of New Vork by persons known

as “‘policy bankers” (fols. 643-647). The bankers

employed agents who were called ¢ gontrollers”
and each controller, in turm, employed numerous

“collectors’” (fols. 649-657). The games Were

played in the following manner: )

The player would select 2 pumber containing
three digits, from 000 to 999. He would write
‘the number on a slip of papér known as & ¢pol-
iey slip”” and hand it to a collector, together
with the amount of money which he desired to
bet. If the number selected happened to €OIT¢
spond to a combination of figures in the parl-
mutuel prices paid that day at a certain race
track, the player would receive six hundred times
the amount of his bet (fols. 661-666). At one
time, the daily total Stock Fxehange transactions
were used as the basis for determining the win-
ning numbers and, before that time, the daily
(learing House totals were ased (fol. 653).

The slips collected by the collectors would be
turned over each day to the controllers and then
taken to “‘poliecy banks’” for tabulation (fols. 695-
698). Daily settlements were had between
plavers, collectors and controllers and, after

winning hets were paid off, commissions were |

deducted by the colleetors and controllers and
the halance would go to the bankers (fols. 725-
735).

The policy games were a poor man’s form of
cambling and were operated on every day in the

vear except Sundays and holidays (fols. 369, 652,
1223-1226).

In 1931, one Arthur Tlegenheimer, alias Duteh
Sehultz, who had theretofore been engaged in
various ]nog\al (?I].teF])Y'iSC‘S. (‘1(?(,“.‘[(19(1 to take over
the ““numbers game’” or ¢ ¢policy racket’’. There-
upon, with the aid of one George Weinberg and
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one J. Richard Davis, a policy lawyer, Schultz
proceeded to coerce and threaten the independent
policy bankers who then controlled and operated
‘the games and, by force and strong-arm methods,
compelled them to turn over their games to a
combination of which he hecame the head (fols.
4823-4838). Schultz put his own lieutenants in
charge of the poliey banks and, from that time
on, he dominated and controlled the combination
and received the major share of the profits de-
rived therefrom (fol. 2300).

In or about April, 1932, some months after
Schultz had taken over the business, he allegedly
contacted appellant, a Democratic Distriet
Leader, and hired him, at a stipulated salary of
$500 to $1,000 a week, to use his political influ-
ence with the Police Department and with certain
Judges to prevent the arrest and proseeution
of members and employees of the poliey com-
bination (fols. 2129-2150). At that time, accord-
ing to one of the People’s witnesses, Schultz
gave appellant $1,000 as an advance payvment for
his services and thereafter appellant received
regular payments as agreed, until some time in
1935, when Schultz told appellant that he was
hard-pressed for money to defend a Federal
charge pending against him, and appellant ae-
cordingly accepted a “‘reduction’ (fol. 2816).

After he was hired, as aforementioned, appel-
lant allegedly used his political influence on be-
half of Schultz and his associates whenever
called upon to do so. I‘rom time to time, vari-
ous police officers who had molested or threat-
ened to arrest or molest members of the Duteh
Schultz gang, were transferred to other precinets,
presumably through appellant’s efforts or influ-
ence. On one oeccasion, according to Weinberg's
testimony, appellant, at Weinberg’s request,
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communicated with Magistrate Capshaw and in-
duced him to dismiss poliey charges pending
before him against employees of the combination
who had been arrested by the police (fols. 2546,
4917). On another oceasion, upon a similar re-
quest from Davis, appellant allegedly used his
influence with the late Magistrate Erwin, for a
similar purpose (fol. 4896). Other testimony
was introduced tending to show that appellant
interceded with other officials, on behalf of
Schultz and his associates (fols. 5027-5030).

- Schultz continued in control of the poliey com-
bination until October, 1935, when he and several
of his henchmen were murdered (fol. 4539).
Shortly thereafter, in December, 1939, the poliey
cames were taken over by some ‘“ITtalians’ and
the policy banks were moved to New Jersey (fols.

4696-4703).  After Sehultz's death, Davis fled to

New Mexico (fol. H053) and Weinberg, who had
been Schultz’s manager in the husiness, and
Harry Schoenhaus, his n«iwfzm hecame salaried
emplovees of the ‘‘ltalians’ (tnl 4702). Not-
withstanding Sehultz’s dormw and notwithstand-
ing the lact that the business had been taken
over by other interests, Weinherg testified that
he continued to make payments to appellant and
that he paid him “maybe seven or eight pay-
ments going into 19367 (fols, 2821-2822).

The record in this case contains a vast amount
of additional testimony relating to the methods
by which Schultz took over the poliey games in
1931: to certain schemes devised and mn].ﬁoyed
by Schultz and his associates to cheat the poliey
playvers: to certain =yvstems and ““dream books™
used by plavers to aid them in selecting winning
numbers: to the cireumstances under which eer-
tain police officers were transferred or demoted:
to assistance allegedly rendered to appellant by




Schultz and his associates in connection with
political campaigns; to testimony given upon the
hearings before Magistrates Capshaw and Irwin
and to the propriety of their decisions; and to a
variety of other matters which are not pertinent
~to the issues presented upon this appeal.

POINT 1

Offenses relating to “policy’” games are not
subject to prosecution under the provisions
of the Penal Law relating to “lotteries”.

In this State, the prosecution and punishment
of offenses relating to the game commonly known
as “‘policy’’ is specifically prescribed by Section
974, Article 88, of the Penal Law, in the follow-
ing language:

“ A person who keeps, oceupies or uses, or
permits to be kept, occupied or used, a place,
building, room, table, establishment or ap-
paratus for policy plaving or for the sale
of what are commonly called ‘lottery poli-
cies’, or who delivers or receives money or
other value consideration in plaving policey,
or in aiding in the playving thereof, or for
what 1s commonly called a ‘lottery poliey’,
or for any writing or document in the nature
of a bet, wager or insurance upon the draw-
ing or selection, or the drawn or selected
numbers of any publie or private lottery; or
who shall have in his possession, knowingly,
any writing, paper or document, represent.
ing or being a record of any chance, share
or interest in mwmbers sold, drawn or se-
lected, or to be drawn or selected, or in what
is commonly called ‘poliev’, or in the nature
of a bet, wager or insuranee, upon the draw-
ing or selection, or the drawn or selected
numbers of any public or private lotterv: or
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any paper, print, writing, number, device,
poliey slip, or article of any kind such as is
commonly used in carrying on, promoting or
playing the game commonly called ‘policy’;
or who is the owner, agent, superintendent,
janitor or caretaker of any place, building
or room where policy playing or the sale
of what are commonly called ‘lottery poli-
cies’ is carried on with his knowledge or
after notification that the premises are so
used, permits such use to be continued, or
who aids, assists or abels in any manner in
any of the offenses, acts or matters herein
named, is a common gambler, and gwilty of
a misdemeanor.”’

The prosecution of offenses relating to “lot-
teries’’ is separately provided for in Article 130,
entitled ““‘Lotteries™. DBy Seection 1372 of that
article, “‘contriving, proposing or drawing a lot-
tery™, or “‘assisting’ therein, is made punish-
able as a felony. Various other accessory acts
committed in connection with the conduet of lot-
teries are designated misdemeanors (Sees. 1373-
1386).

In construing these statutes, the courts have
invariably differentiated between ““poliey™ and
“Jottery™ and. have uniformly held that offenses
relating to one may not be prosecuted under the
statutes dirvected against the other.

Thus, in People v. Bloom, 248 X. Y. 082, this
Court reversed a convietion for unlawfully pos-
sessing poliey =lips, upon the ground that:

“althongh the defendant’s gift enferprise
constituted a lottery (Penal Law, section
1370) the certificates in his possession were
not shown to be poliey slips, and defendant
was not shown to be engaged tn the game or
scheme commonly known as policy.”” (Ttalies
ours.)
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The same distinction was recognized and ap-
plied in People v. Lyttle, 225 App. Div. 299, af-
firmed 251 N. Y. 347, where the Court found that
the game in which the defendant was engaged:

“was more in the nature of a lottery than
of policy’’.

Again, in People v. Edelstein, 231 App. Div.
459, the Appellate Division of the First Depart-
ment (the same Court which affirmed the con-
vietion in the case at bar) pointed out that, in
the Bloom case: ’

“The Court of Appeals has held that there
is a substantial difference between poliey and
lottery.”’

In People v. Weber, 245 App. Div. 827, the Ap-
pellate Division of the Second Department held
squarely that the operator of a policy game could
not he prosecuted under Seetion 1372 of the Penal
Law for contriving, proposing and drawing a lot-
terv. The Court =aid as follows:

“The proof is clear that appellant was
guilty of a violation of sections 974 and 975
of the Penal Law in operating a ‘poliey
eame’, but such violation constitutes a erime
which must be distinguished from violations
of the eriminal law respecting lotteries in-
cluded within article 130 of the Penal Law.
for the violation of one of which, section
1372, he has heen indicted and convieted.”

Tn a still later case, Matter of Praither, 246
App. Div. 846, affirmed by this Court without
opinion at 271 N. Y. 598, it was held that a stat-
ute giving a Court of Special Sessions jurisdie-
tion to hear “‘lotterv’’ eharges did not authorize
it to hear “‘poliey’” charges. The Court said:

~ ““Violations of section 974 of the Penal
Law, dealing with the game of peliey, have
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been differentiated from lottery, provided
for under sections 1370-1386 of the Penal
Law.”’

In each of these decisions the Clourt recognized
a clear-cut distinetion between poliey and lottery,
based upon the provisions of the Penal Law.
In the case at bar, however, the (ourt has
‘held that there is no difference between policy
and lottery, and has ruled that the existence of
the poliey statute did not preclude appellant’s
prosecution under the lottery statute,—a ruling
in direct conflict with all previous decisions.

The theory advanced in support of the convie-
tion is that poliey, like lottery, ix “‘a scheme for
the distribution of property by chance, among
persons who have paid or agreed to pay a valu-
able congideration for the chance’ (Penal Law,
Section 1370).  The fundamental weakness of
that theory is that it completely ignores the fact
that the Legislature has specifically differen-
tiated between poliey and lottery, for the pur-
pose of eriminal proseeution.

The statutory definition of lottery is unques-
tionably broad enough to inelude poliev, as well
as everv other form of gambling. All gambling
schemes and deviees are essentially ““sehemes for
the distribution of property by chance.” The
law 15 well settled, however, that the lottery laws
of this State were never intended to applyv to
any form of gambling except lotteries, as that
term wasg eommonly understood when the lottery
laws were originally enacted.  Tn referring to
the lottery provisions, this Court, in People er
rel. Lawrence v. Fallon, 152 N. Y, 12, 17, said
as follows:

“That statute defines lottery as a scheme
for the distribution of property hy chanece.
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among persons who pay or agree to pay

-aluable consideration for the “ehance. It is
obvious from the language of this statute,
and the cucumktdnces G\lhtln”‘ at the time
of its passage, that it was not intended to
include within its provisions every transac-
tion which involved any degree of “chance or
uncertainty, but its plauz purpose was to
prohibit (znci punish certain well-known of-
fenses which had existed and been regarded
as crimes before Hze enactinent af that law.”
(ftalies ours. )

The same. conclusion was reached in In re
Diwyer, 14 Mise. 204, where the late Judge Gay-
nor pointed out that the lottery provisions con-
stituted a distinet line of legislation, separate
and apart from the statutes relating to other
forms of gambling. He wrote, in part, as fol-
lows, at page 206:

“Thus there existed two distinet lines of
legixlation on two distinet subjects,—two
distinet svstems of statuted, the one on lot-
teriex and the other on hetting and gaming,—
no one ever suggesting that the statutes in
the one svstem also ereated or covered the
offenses ereated and covered by the other.™

It should be borne in mind that the lottery
laws were enacted long before the game of ““pol-
icy’” came into existence. When the special stat-
ute relating to policy was enacted and placed in
the article dealing with betting and gaming, the
legislature obviously recognized that poliev and
lottery were different {ypes of gambling. Poliey
is essentially a betting game., The record in this
case 1s replete with testimony showing that, in
policy, the player bets a given amount upon a
number which he seleets. If the number wins, he
18 paid off at certain stipulated odds. In a lot-
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tery, on the other hand, no bets are made and no
odds are quoted. The player purchases a ticket
bearing a number and, if the number is drawn,
he receives a proportionate share of the prize
offered. Moreover, in policy, as many players
can win as select the winning number. In lottery,
howeved, only one person in a class can share in
the prize or prizes distributed.

Another characteristic peeuliar to policy was
judicially recognized by this court in People v.
Adams, 176 N. Y. 351, when it said, in referring
to Section 344a of the Penal Code, now Section
974 of the Penal Law:

“Qaction S44a immediately follows a see-
tion dealing with keeping betting and gam-
ing establishments, and is an amplification
of the law looking to the suppression of
gambling, it being aimed at the game of
‘policy’ so-called, which offered an oppor-
tunity to the poorer classes of making tri-
fling bets and who ecould il afford to lose
their small earnings.”” (p. 359)

The same characteristiec——that policy was a
poor man’s game and involved bets of trifling
cums—was repeatedly stressed by the prosecu-
tor upon the trial of this case (fols. 369, 652).

Thus, it iz manifest that there was sufficient
ground tor the Legislatare to differentiate be-
tween policy and lottery and to justify 1t in ac-
cording ““poliey’” special legislative treatment.
Whatever reason may have motivated the Legis-
lature, the fact that it did enact a statute relat-
ing specifically to ¢“poliey™ indicates clearly that
it did not intend that ““policy” should be prose-
euted under the existing ““lottery”’ statute.

Further evidence of the intent of the Legisla-
ture to differentiate between policy and lottery
may be found in the fact that prior to 1926,
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poliey, like lottery, was a felony. In that year,
by amendment to Section 974, the Legislature
reduced the crime to a misdemeanor, but made
no change whatever in the penalty presecribed
by Section 1372 for contriving, proposing and
drawing lotteries.. The purpose of the amend-
ment, as pointed out by Judge PPecora in his
decision overruling the demurrer herein (fol.
176) was to bring policy violations “within the
Jurisdiction of the Courls of Special Sessions
and thereby render prosecutions swifter and
make convictions easier by making the penalties
less drastic”’. The faet that the Legislature did
not similarly amend Section 1372 is further proof
that that section was never intended to apply
to poliey, as, otherwise, the amendment of See-
tion 974 would have been an idle gesture and
could not have accomplished the purpose for
which it was enacted.

As authority for the contention that poliev
may. be construed as lottery notwithstanding the
existence of a special statute relating to poliey,
the People rely mainly upon Wilkinson v. Gill,
7+ N. Y. 63, where the Court permitted a recov-
ery of moneys lost in policy playving, under a
statute providing for a civil -penalty of double
the amount paid for a share or interest in an
““illegal lottery™. A reading of the decision in
that case readily demonstrates that the prineiple
upon which it was decided has no application
here.

In the Wilkinson case the Court was not called
upon to decide whether poliey and lottery were
different types of gambling—for the purpose of
determining which of two eriminal statutes ap-
plied.  As the Court pointed out, the statute
there sued upon provided that “‘every lottery,
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game or device of chance in the nature of a
lottery other than such as have been authorized
by law, shall be deemed unlawful,”’ and it per-
mitted a recovery solely upon the basis that
policy had the same essential features as a lot-
tery and was, therefore, within the broad pur-

- poses of the statute.

The Court indicated elearly that its ruling
would not apply in a criminal ease—a fact which
was also recognized by Judge Gaynor in In re
Dwyer, supra. When the defendant in the
Wilkinson case claimed that the [Legislature had
created a distinetion between poliey and lottery
by the enactment of Chapter 504, Laws of 1851
(the original statute making policy a criminal
offense), the Court expressly held that, while
the distinetion applied to eriminal prosecutions,
it did not affect the recovery of civil penalties.
In referring to the civil penalty statute upon
which the suit was based, the Court said:

““That section Is general, but very com-
prehensive, and although the particular de-
vice adopted by the defendant may not then
have been practiced, vet if its comprehensive
torms embraced it, the subsequent passage
of an act making such deviece eriminal can-
not affect its provisions. There i no au-
thority for holding that a erimina remedy
by one act supersedes another act queing a
ciril remedy.”

The plain import of this language is that, if
the statute there involved were a criminal statute
prohihiting lottery. the subsequently enacted
statute relating to poliey wold supersede it, and
that the eriminal penalty preseribed by the pol-
icy statute would then apply instead of the
one provided by the earlier statute affeeting
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lottery. That is exactly what the appellant
claims in this case. Instead of supporting the
People’s contention, the Wilkinson case is direct
authority to the contrary.

Another case upon which the prosecution
seems to place great reliance as authority for its
contention is Forte v. United States, 83 Fed.
(2nd) 612. In that case the operators of a
“numbers game’’ similar to that involved in the
instant action were convicted under a statute of
the Distriet of Columbia which provided as fol-
lows:

“If any person shall within the District
“keep, set up, or promote, or be concerned as
owner, -agent, or clerk, or in any other man-
ner, in managing any policy lotfery or
policy shop, or shall sell or transfer any
ticket, certificate, bill, token or other deviee
purporting or intended to gnarantee or as-
sure to any person or entitle him to a chance
of drawing or obtaining a prize, to be
drawn in any lottery, or in the game or de-
vice commonly known as poliey lottery or
poliey * * * he shall be fined not more
than five hundred dollars or be imprisoned
not more than three vears, or hoth.”

It will he observed that this statute prohibits
both policy and lottery and prescribes exactly
the same penalty for either. Thus, the statutory
situation was entirely different from that which
exists in this State, where the contriving, pro-
posing and drawing of a lottery is a felony,
while the commission of offenses relating to
poliey are only misdemeanors.

The question involved in that case was not
whether poliev was lottery, but whether the pro-
hibition of the statute extended to the ““num-
hers game’’, the defendant contending that the
“numbers game’’ was unknown at the time the
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statute was enacted. The Court rejected that
contention and said:

““Appellant’s contention that the prohibi-
tion of the statute is limited to the so called
‘policy game’ cannot be sustained.”’

The question which was involved in the Forte
ase—“Is the ‘numbers game’ a ‘poliey game’?”’
~—18 not even in issue in the case at bar. Ap-
pellant concedes that ‘‘numbers games’’ are
““poliecy games’. He contends, however, that,
being ““poliey games’’, they must be prosecuted
under the statute relating to ““poliey games’’
and not under the statute pertaining to “‘lot-
tery’’.

In the Forte case, by wayv of dietum, the Court
states that even if poliey were not prohibited by
name in the District of Columbia statute, it could
be construed as lottery for the purpose of crim-
inal prosecution. Unquestionably, in the abzence
of a special statute relating to poliey, that would
be true. If there were no penal statute in the
State of New York specifically relating to poliey,
then, undoubtedly, the operator of a policy game
would be subject to prosecution under the lottery
laws.  But, since the Legislature enacted a law
directed particularly and  exclusively against
policy, there is no basis for contending that
policy may be prosecuted under the lottery laws,
rather than under the statute expressly prohibit-
ing policy.

It is true that in certain other states. poliey
games have been held to he subject to prosecu-
tion under statutes prohibiting lotteries. 1'n-
like New York, however, those states do not
have a separate statute directed against poliev.
In those states the only statute available for
the prosecution of poliey games is a lottery




17

statute, and there is no statutory basis for any
distinetion between policy and lottery. Hence,
the courts in those states are not confronted
with the question at issue here, namely, can
policy games be p.osecuted under the lottery
laws notwithstanding the existence of a spe-
cial statute relating to policy?

The decision of the court helow rests upon
an erroneous assumption that ““policy was orig-
inally embraced within the lottery section’ (fol.
11576). As a matter of tact, poliey and policy
playing had not even been heard of when the
original lottery statute was enacted. Latteries
were prohibited in this state as early aq 1721,
during the colonial davs, whereas the firf law
against poliey was not enacted until 1851 ((Nap-
ter 504). Poliey was never taken out of Nie
lottery statute, hecause it was never in it. From
its inception, the poliey statute was intended
to apply exclusivelv to the particular scheme or
method of betting on selected numbers called
and known as ‘“‘poliev”’, and it has always
been included within the provisions of the article
of the Penal Law dealing with *‘Befting and
Gaming’’. The lottery statutes, on the other
hand, were always included in a separate and
distinet article entitled and devoted exclusively
to “‘Lotteries’, and were never identified with
or intended to apply to anv of the other forms
of gambling prohibited in the ““Betting and
Gaming’ article. (People ex rel. Lawrence v.
Fallon, supra; In re Dwyer, supra).

The court below iz also in error when it sue-
wests, in its Per Curiam opinien, that:

“Because difficulty in seeuring convie-
tions for felony was encountered. the Tegis-
Iature made policy, originally included in
the crime of lottery, a misdemeanor. Dy
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so doing, there was no intention evidenced
to repeal, alter or amend the orviginal lot-
tery section.  The new section neither ‘ex-
plicitly” referred to the old, nor did it i-
rectly repeal or amend it (Section 2500
- Penal Law).”

It is apparent that the court confused the
enactinent of the original poliey statute in 1851
with the subsequent reduction of penally in
1026, seventy-five vears later. There is no evi-
dence of anv ““difficulty in securing convictions™’
of lottery violations, either at the time of the
enactmient of the original poliey statute or at
any other time. It is true. that when poliey
games became prevalent, in 1026, the Legisla-
ture, in order to facilitate convictions, reduced
that crime from a felony to a misdemeanor. But
that reduction in penalty had no conneetion what-
coever with the Jottery statute or with lotteries,

The rule against repeal by implication (Penal
Law, Seetion 2500) has no hearing upon the ques-
tion involved in this case.  Appellant does not
claim that the enactinent of the poliey statute ov
its subsequent amendment in 1926 was intended
to ““repeal, alter or amend'’ the loftery section.
On the contrary, appellant contends that in deal-
ing with policy and lottery. the Legislature was
dealing with two different subjects of criminal
prosecution, and that its enactiment or amendment
of the statutes relating to one, did not in any-
wise affect the statutes relating to the other,
Tntil the affirmanee of the eonvietion herein, all
of the appellate courts in this State, ineluding the
court helow, recognized the distinetion hetween
the two subjeets. (People vo Bloom, supra: Peo-
ple v. Lyttle, supra; People v. Edelstein, supra:
People v. Weber supra: Matier of Praitler,
supra).
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The Court below also cites the familiar prin-
ciple of law that:

““Penal statutes covering substantially the
same offenses may stand together (People ¢.
Dwyer, 215 N. Y. 406, 52) and that where
there are several sections ‘the District At-
torney may prosccute for the felony or mis-
demeanor, as he chooses” (People ¢, Bord,
243 N. Y. 595, HY6).”

Appellant has no quarrel with that rule, but
contends that it has no application under the
facts of this case. It is perfeetly true that where
there are two sections prohibiting the same
crime, one as a felony and the other as misde-
meanor, the District Attorney may prosecute
under either seetion. Thus, in the Bord case, it
appeared that the crime of incest, under the
Penal Law, was a felonv. The Domestie Rela-
tions Law, however, declared the same c¢rime to
be a misdemeanor, and this Court very properly
held that the defendant could be prosecuted under
either statute as, under those eirewmmstances, it
was not possible to determine whether the Leg-
islature intended incest to be a misdenieanor or
a felony. In the case at bar, on the other hiand,
there is no inconxisteney between the two stat-
utes, as they relate to two different subjects, hoth
by express provision and under uniform Judicial
ruling.  To hold that poliey is a felony would be
directly contrary to the declared intent of the
Legislature in making it punishable as a mis-
demeanor,

While there can be no doubt as to which of the
two statutes in suit apply to the acts allegedly
committed by defendant, the law is well settled

that even where such a doubt exists, it must he
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resolved in favor of the defendant. In an analo-
gous situation, this Court said as follows:

““Fiven if there was doubt with respect to
the question as to which of these two sec-
tions applies to the wrongful act with which
the defendant was charged, we would, I
think, under all the principles and analogies
of the criminal law, be required to hold that
it was a migdemeanor rather than a felony.
Courts are not justified in giving a strained
or extreme construction to eriminal statutes
in order to bring some particular aect within
their scope, when it 1s plain that the same
act is covered by another statute defining
offenses of an inferior grade.”

People v.el{natt, 156 N. Y. 302, 305,

As further evidenced by its Per Cturiam opinion,
the Court below adopted the fallacious theory
that the specific designation of policy as a mis-
demeanor could be disregarded, by reason of the
fact that policy is ““a scheme for the distribution
of property by chance’ and therefore falls within
the gencral definition of lottery, as expressed in
Section 1370 of the Penal Law. As already in-
dicated above, the <ieitm’t<;n"\' definition of lottery
It iz the root of

11 ’?nmnq of ¢ gat i hi
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the tree from which aH gambling S.{}"(}WS, but the
tree has many branches. The branches are simi
lar in many z'esp@(’fts, vet each i}m:ﬁ(z}}
individual characteristic which was recognized
by the Legislature as differentiating it from the

other, That differentiation cannot disre-
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has some

he
garded without destroying the constitutic mal pre-
rogative of the Legislature.

It is apparent, also, that the Court below
failed to appreeciate the true mmport of the de-
cisions in People ex rel. Lawrence v. Fallon,
supra, and In re hwyer, supra. Tt is true that




those cases involved a type of gambling other
than policy. But the type of gaming involved
is wholly immaterial under the prineiple upon
which the cases were decided. The Court specit-
ically limited the application of the lottery law
to “‘certain well known offenses which had ex-
isted and been regarded as c¢rimes before the en-
actiment of that law”’. (People ex rel. Lawrence
v. Fallon, supra, at p. 17.) In each instance, the
Court held that none of the offenses covered by
the ‘‘Betting and Gaming'’ provisions could be
brought within the lottery statute, notwithstand-
ing that they were ‘“schemes for the distribution
of property by chance’”’. Obviously, that ruling
applies to poliey, since policy, also, is one of the
offenses specifically covered in the ‘‘Betting and
(Gaming’’ provisions of the Penal Law.

The rationale of those decisions is disclosed by
the following excerpt from the opinion in the
Dwyer case, at page 208:

““The legislature having specifically singled
out racing for stakes, and made it a distinet
crime, and preseribed a punishment for it, it
annot be called some other erime, and pun-
ished as such.”

The particular type of gaming sought to be
prosecuted under the lottery laws in the Dwyer
case happened to he “‘racing for stakes”, But
the same principle would apply if the game of
poliey had been involved instead, sinee the legis-
lature also “specifically singled out’™ poliey and
“made it a distinet crime, and preseribed a pun-
ishment for it.”" TUpon the same theory, policy
“eannot be called some other crime and punished
as such.”’

The opinion of the Court below reveals a seri-
ous mistake of fact concerning the issue involved
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in People v. Weber, 245 App. Div. 827, where
the conviction of a policy game operator under
an indictment charging him with contriving, pro-
posing and drawing a lottery, was reversed by
the Appellate Division of the Second Department. -
In commenting upon that decision, the Court
below in its Per Curiam opinion, says:
“In People v. Weber (245 App. Div. 827)
the question was not whether policy is lot-
tery, but whether possession of lottery slips

was sufficient to justify a convietion for con-
triving, proposing or drawing a lottery.”

A mere reading of the decision in the Weber
case shows that this statement is wholly in-
correct. : '

In holding that the defendant’s convietion of
contriving, proposing and drawing a lottery was
improper, the Appellate Division of the Second
Department expressly assumed that the proof
was sufficient to show that he was the operator
of the game and said:

“The proof is clear that appellant was
guilty of a violation of scetions 974 and 975
in operating a ‘policy game’ hut such viola-
tion constitutes a cerime which must be dis-
tinguished from the violation of the eriminal
statutes respecting lotteriex.”” (Italies ours.)

In the light of this clear and unmistakable
language, it is difficult to understand upon what
theory the Court below finds that the issue was
not ““whether poliey is lottery, but whether pos-
session of lottery slips was sufficient to justify
a convietion for contriving, proposing or draw-
ing a lotterv.””  Although it is unnecessary to go
behind the opinion in the Weber case to ascer-
tain the basis upon which the conviction was
reversed, recourse to the Reeord on Appeal
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shows that it was not even contended that the
proof showed only “possession of lottery slips”
and not ““operation’’. That the only issue in the
case was whether poliey can be prosecuted under
the lottery laws, is shown by the following ex-

cerpt from the Record on Appeal in the Weber

case:
At folio GR9:

“Mr. Kean (For the People): T ask vour
Honor to charge that poliey is one of other
games that comes within the pmviﬁions of
Section 1370 of the Penal Law as to lottery.,

The Court: I charge that, provided the
Jury find that the testnnonv given by the
officers as to what policy is and how it is
plaved is true and correct.

Mr. Kean: No other requests.

Mr. Ryan (Defendant’s Counsel): T ex-
cept to that part of the charge, if wvour
Honor please, and T ask yvour Honor to
charge the Jury that the statutes and the
Code recognize a distinetion between poliey
and Iottely as heing distinet and separate
erimes, in that the People of the State of
New York have to prove that distinetion
hefore the jury can convict the defendant as
charged in this indictment.

The Court: No, T decline to charge that.

Mr. Ryvan: Exception.”

The case at bar. was submitted to the jury
upon the same erroneous theory, Judge Nott
charged ag follows (fol. 11162):

“T will charge vou under the law that the
operation known as poliev is a lotterve——one
sort of a lotterv.”

It iz futile, therefore, to attempt to distinguish
the Weber case from the present ecase, as the
identical question was involved: Ts the operator
of a policy game guilty of contriving, proposing

@

or drawing a lottery?

B e
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The disposition of the case at bar involves much
more than the mere question of whether policy
is to be construed as lottery. It involves the
broader question of whether the District Attor-
ney or the Legislature ghall preseribe the
penalty for prohibited acts. There are many
instances in which partieular acts declared to be
misdemeanors might be construed as felonies
under statutes which were never intended to
apply to such acts. Just such a situation was
present in People v. Knatt, supra, where this
court said: ‘ -

“Courts are not justified in giving a
strained or extreme construction to crimi-
nal statutes in order to bring some par-
ticular act within their scope, when it is
plain that the same act 1s covered by
another statute defining offenses of an in-
ferior grade.”

Here, the Legislature, hy Section 974 of the
Penal  Law, has specifically  declared that
offenses relating to ““policy’” shall constitute
misdemeanors. Yet, in order to avoid the effect
of the statute of limitations, the Distriet Attor-
ney ‘has been permitted to prosecute such
offenses as felonies, under an earlier statute
prohibiting *“lofferies’, which was never in-
tended to apply to the game commonly known as
“poliex”, and the “plain purpose of which was
to punish certain well-known offenses which had
existed and been regarded as crimes before ihe
enactment of that law’™ (People ex rel. Lawrence
v. Iallon, supra). To uphold sueh action would
not only be contrary to the most fundamental
principles of law, but would ecanse chaos and
confusion in the future administration of the
criminal law,




POINT I

The proof fails to establish that the defend-
ant Hines “assisted in contriving, proposing
or drawing a lottery”, within the meaning of

Section 1372-of the Penal Law.

The crime of which the defendant Hines has
been convicted under counts 2 to 13 of the in-
dietment is defined by Section 1372 of the Penal
Law, as follows:

‘A person who contrives, proposes or
draws a lottery, or assists in contriving,
proposing or drawing the same, is punish-
able by imprisonment for not more than
two vears, or by a fine of not more than
one thousand dollars, or both.”

The scope of the statute, it will he observed,
is expressly limited to three specific acts or in-
cidents involved in the operation of a lottery,
and the application of the statute is made de-
pendent upon the commission of one or more
of the three prohibited acts. A similar statute
was construed by this court in People er rel.
Lichtenstein v. Langan, 196 N. Y. 260, 267,
where Chief Judge Cullen, speaking for the
court, said:

“While in reality the statute is directed
against gambling, not against its incidents,
the law has laid hold of certain inecidents on
the theory that those heing prohibited the
evil itself will he suppressed because of the
impracticability of carryving on gambling on
a large scale without some of the accessories
denounced by the statute. How far this plan
has proved successful in operation is for the
Legislature, not the courts, to determine,
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and we cannot hold that the act of the re-
1:;1‘((;)1‘ constitutes a crime unless it {alls
within the terms of the statute.”

To bring the defendant Hines ““within the
terms of the statute’™ it was not suflicient,
merely, to show that he aided or assisted n the
general operation of the alleged lotteries. 1t
was incumbent upon the People to show that he
participated in one or more of the three speeifi-
callv prohibited acts of “condriving, ;nw;m*i}ﬂl
or drawing.””  Otherwize, he could not he held
guilty of the erime defined by the statute under
which he was indi(*ted

The meaning of the term *‘contriving, propos-
ing or drawing a lottery' ix reasonably plain:
To conduet a lottery, it ix first necessary to
ereate or devise a plan ol operation. Those who
do sop Hfeontrive™ the lottery. The next =tep
ix to launch the enterprize or set it on foot.
That act constitutes the “proposing™ of the lot.
terve The ““drawing ™, obviouslv, 1= the mechani-
cal act by which the winner of the prize or prizes
in the lottery is determined.  Faeh of these
acts ix an integral part of the lottery itself, ax
distinguished from collateral acts which merely
aid in the general operation of the lottery or
farther the interests of the operators,

A aptly stated by Mr, Justice Pecorn in
opinion rendered by him on the overruling of
demurrer herein, the person who assists in con-
triving, proposing or drawing a lottery must he
a tdirect agend tw the Tottery machinery’™ (fol.
177) and an “essential element in (he seheme™
(fol. 179).

In the care at bar, it was not elaimed that the
defendant Hines was engaged in the dirveet op.
evation of the poliey gmmes in suit or that he
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participated in any way in the contriving, pro-
posing or drawing thereof. It was charged only
that he aided in the general scheme, by protect-
ing the operators and their employees from
arrest and prosecution.  Those acts could not
constitute a violation of Section 1372 of the
Penal Law, as they were not a constituent part
of “contriving, proposing or drawing a lottery?’.
No matter how helpful his services may have
been in the general scheme, he was neither ““a
direet agent in the lottery machinery”, nor an
““essential element’ therein.

Despite the specific limitation contained in the
statute, the trial judge refused to attach any
significance to the term ““contriving, proposing
or drawing™, and submitted the case to the jury
upon the theory that proof of any acts of assis-
tance or cooperation in the general running of
the policy games was sufficient to conviet.  lHe
charged the jury as tollows (fol. 11144):

“I the scheme was a general one and they
all went into it to carry out this general pur-
pose ol a combination that was to run the
lottery business, then each ul them, no mat-
ter what part he played, so unq as the part

aided, ahettud or assisted in that general
a(‘! weme, 1= liable for every oceasion on which

a o ‘wr\ puhv\ was run under that scheme
on any di\ 1t was run.’ (Italies ours.)

In adopting thix theory, the court clearly mis-
interpreted the language and intent of the statute.
Seetion 1372 does not prohibit the general run-
ning or conduct of a lottery, 1t expressly lmits
the acts prohibited thereby to the contriving, pro-
poxing or drawing of the lottery. As pointed out
by Chiet Judge Cullen in People ex rel. Lichten-
stein v, Langan (supra), the court is not eon-
cerned with the reasons which actuated the
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Legislature in limiting the statute to certain
¢‘incidents’’ of the lottery, instead of making it
applicable to the lottery itself. It must take the
statute as it stands, and, unless the defendant’s
acts fall with its speaﬁc terms, he cannot be held
guilty of the crime defined thereby.

The iac’t that the statute e\pre«h prohibits

“‘gssisting’’ in the contriving, pr opoqﬂ or draw-
ing of a lottery does not in anvwise enlarge its
seope so as to make it applicable to acts which do
not relate directly to contriving, proposing or
drawing., It is not disputed ’that under Section
9 of the Penal Law, one who aids, abets or u\ﬂ%f‘i
in the commission of a crime is just as guilty
the person who commits the ¢r ime. In order to
invoke the provisions of that section in this case,
however, 1t was not sufficient merely to show
that the defendant aided. abetted or assisted in
the general conduet or running of a lottery, since
that is not the erime defined hy the statute under
which he was indicted. On the contr arv, to bring
him within the terms of that statute. it was
necessary to show that he aided, abetted or
assisted in either of the specifically prohibited
acts of contriving, pr opouu'r or drawing.

in ruling upon defendant’s motion to dismiss
the indictment, at the close ui the People’s case,
the trial judge stated as follows (fol. (GR23) :

“In this ease the defendant is not charged
with assisting in running the actual opera-
tion or the business. It is charged that he
aided. abetted or assisted the drawers. con-
trivers and proposers of the lottery by cer-
tain acts in connection with the Judiciary
and police.”

While this statement applies to the conspiracy
count of the indictinent, it‘ does not correctly set
forth the charge under the felony counts. As




29

already demonstrated, under Section 1372 the
question is not whether a defendant aids or
assists the operators of a lottery in the general
running of the business. The controlling ques-
tion is whether he assists in the contriving, pro-
posing or drawing of the lottery. His assistance
in any other part of the business would not
and could not bring him within the terms of the
statute. ‘“Aects in connection with the judiciary
‘and police’’, being in the nature of obstruction
of Justice, unquestionably constitute a erime.
They do not, however, constitute the erime of
which the defendant Hines was accused by the
indictment in this case.

The theory that any aets of assistance in the
general operation ol a lottery constitute g vipla-
tion of Section 1372 is further contradicted by
the faet that various acts other than ‘“con-
triving, proposing or drawing' are separately
prohibited and made punishable as misde-
meanors, in the succeeding sections of Article
130 of the Penal Law. Thus, hy Section 1373,
the selling of lottery tickets is specifically pro-
hibited and elassified as a misdemeanor. If
providing protection ‘‘assists the drawers, con-
trivers and proposers of the lottery’’, then,
obviously, selling tickets in the lottery does like-
wise. If anything, the sclling of the tickets is
infinitely more vital and essential than the pro-
viding of police protection. Lotteries can and
have functioned without protection. But the
very life and existence of the lottery depends
upon the selling of the tickets.

The court below, in its Opinion of affirmance,
cites certain dictionary definitions in an effort
to show that the word “‘contrive’ encompasses
not only those who create or devise the lottery,
but also those who participate in the manage-
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ment and conduct thereof. If that were the in-
tended meaning of ‘‘contrive’’, it would have
been entirely unnecessary for the Legislature to
separately prohibit “proposing’” and ‘‘draw-
ing’’, since both of those acts are necessarily
involved in the conduct of the lottery. More-
over, such a construction of the term “eontrive”’
would be wholly inconsistent with the enactment
of the sections relating to the rarious other acts
also necessarily involved in the conduet of lot-
teries (Penal Law, Sections 1373-1380).

Whatever may be the precise meaning of the
term ‘“contrive’’, however, it is manifest that it
was not intended to encompass persons who
were not direct agents in the lottery machinery
and who were not involved in the actual insti-
tuting or administering of the lottery. That
theory is borne out by the very decision cited
hy the court below (State v. Wong Took, 147
Wash. 190 265 Pac. 459). In that case the de-
fendants sought a reversal of a convietion for
assisting in eontriving, proposing and drawing
a lottery, upon the ground that they had no
proprietary interest in the lottery and were mere
emplovees. The trial court had charged the jury
that it they believed the evidence, which showed
that the defendants weve engaged i the actual
runniig of the lottery, it was immaterial whether
they were the proprietors or only “‘emplovees,
servanty, agents or clerks™.  In commenting
upon the charge, the Appellate Court said as
follows:

“The instruetion was entirely appropriate
and correct under the facts of the case to
the offect that the appellants conducted the
enterprise in the back room of a store huild-
ing and in doing so, they, from time to time
and interchangeably, served in the several
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capacities of doorkeeper, marking tickets
and duplicates and taking in and paying out
money.’’

It will be noted that the Court places the em-
phasis of its ruling upon the faet that the de-
fendants were engaged in the physical adminis-
tration and operation of the lottery. That
controlling factor is conspicuously absent in the
ase at bar, where the defendant’s acts were
admittedly performed in connection with matters
wholly outside of the lottery machinery. His
acts were not a constituent part of ‘‘contriving,
proposing or drawing a lottery’’, irrespective of
how heneficial or advantageous thev may have
been to those who did contrive, propose or draw
the lottery.

POINT I

Prejudicial error was committed by the
Court

(1) In receiving into evidence the testi-
mony adduced before Magistrates Capshaw
and. Erwin upon the hearing of certain
charges against employees of the so-called
“policy combination”,

(2) In submitting to the jury for determi-
nation as a question of fact whether the
Magistrates were right or wrong in dismiss-
ing the charges.

The elaim that the defendant provided protee-
tion from criminal prosecution to the members
of the so-called “‘policy combination” is predi-
cated upon the alleged improper dismissal of
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certain cases in the Magistrates’ Court of the
City of New York., As appears {rom the evi-
dence, the police arrested certain employvees of
the combination and charged them with possess-
ing policy =lips.  Subsequently, after prelim-
inary hearvings in the Magistrates’ Court, the
charges were dismissed for lack of evidence.
There were three cases in all, two of which were
disposed of by Magistrate Hulon Capshaw, and
the third by the late Magistrate Krwin. The
People claimed that the defendant had ‘“fixed™
the cazes, and two of its witnesses—J. Richard
Davis and eorge Weinherg—testified that, at
their request, the defendant had eommunicated
with the Magistrates in advance of the hearings
and had arranged for the dismissal of the
charges. ,

After proving the arrests and the pendeney of
the charges, the People were permitted, over oh-
jection and exception, to read into evidence a
stenographie tranzeript of cach of the hearings
(Fols. 887, 5932, 6464).  Immediately after the
reading of the fivst transeript, the Distriet Attor-
nev requested the Court to charge the jury that.
upon the evidence before him, the Magiztrate was
under a “tlegal duty™ to hold the defendantx
and that he had acted nmproperiy in dismissing
the charge (fol. 1137).  The Court denied the
request, hut submitted the question to the oy
for determination as an issue of fact. The fol-
lowing are execerpts tfrom the Court's charge fo
the jury:

At folio 11199

“1 «hall tell
possession an
whether the |

ou what the faw is ax (o
hen vou are to determine
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charging those men or whether he was
wrong
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At folio 11204:

““And the question therefore is: did these
two Magistrates, in dismissing these three
cases, have sufficient cause to believe that
the defendants committed the act?”’

At folio 119211:

“Therefore, it is for vou to say whether
the Magistrate had evidenee before him on
on which he might have formed a reasonable
belief that they were connected, that they
were committing this crime.”’

At folio 11213:

“It is for you therefore to say whether
the Magistrate was justified under the law
or not in discharging that number of de-
fendants, I think it was twenty-six.””

Under these instructions, the jury was obvi-
ously required to pass upon the legal propriety
of the dismissal of the charges, based upon the
evidence before the Magistrates. Whether the
Magistrates were “‘right or wrong” was made
a direct issue of fact to be considered by the
jurv as an element in deciding whether the de-

fendant improperly influenced the Magistrates.
Appellant regpectfully submits that the cor-
rectness of the Magistrates’ ruling was not a
relevant issue in this case. If the defendant
arranged in advance for the dismissal of the
charges, as testified to by Davis and Weinberg,
he was guilty of improper conduet, whether or
not the Magistrates were legally justified in dis-
missing the charges under the evidence before
them. On the other hand, if he was not instru-
mental in causing the dismissals, he was not
chargeable with them, no matter how improper
and indefensible they were from a legal stand-
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point. Consequently, whether the dismissals
were legally correct or incorrect had no bearing
or probative value upon the question of whether
the defendant approached the Magistrates, as
claimed.

A similar question was presented in the recent
prosecution of Martin T. Manton, former Chiefl
Judge of the Circuit Court of Appeals. In that
case Judge Manton attempted to defend himself
against a charge of corruption in connection
with the rendition of certain decisions, by show-
ing that the decisions were legally correct. Both
the trial court and the appellate court held, how-
ever, that it was wholly immateral that a deci-
sion rendered pursuant to a corrupt agreement
was legally sound. (U. S. v. Manton, 107 Fed.
(Znd) 834, 845.) Although the situation in the
case at bar is reversed, the same principle ap-
plies.  Obviously, the fact that a Judge renders
an incorrect decision is no indication that he is
dishonest or that some one influenced him to
make it. Tt was wholly improper, therefore, for
the Court to direet the jury to consider the le-
gality of the Magistrates” actions in determining
the defendant’s guilt, and to instruet the jury
that it had ““evidentiary” value in the ecase ({ols.
11218-11219).

It is true that, under Judge Nott’s charge to
the jury, the legal correetness of the Magis-
trates’ decisions was not the sole issne unon
which the defendant’s guilt depended. Tt is true
that the jury was also instructed to determine
whether the defendant Hines caused the alleged
improper disiissals, The effect of that instrue-
tion was nullified, however, by Judgze Nott's re-
fusal to charge, as requested by defendant’s
counsel, that the jury eould not find that Hines
caused the dmmmaih unless it helieved the testi-
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mony of the witnesses Davis and Weinberg (fol.
11261). It must be borne in mind that the only
testimony which in anywise connected Hines
with the three Magistrates’ Court cases In ques-
tion, came from the lips of Davis and Weinberg.
The only inference that the jury could reason-
ably draw from Judge Nott’s refusal to charge
as requested, therefore, was that, even if it
placed no eredence in the testimony of Davis or
Weinberg, it could still find Hines guilty upon
the basis of the legal impropriety of the dismis-
sal of the charges in the Magistrates’ Court.

It cannot be properly contended that only
harmless error was committed in receiving the
Magistrates® Court testimony into evidence and
in  asking the jury to determine therefrom
whether the Magistrates were right or wrong in
discharging the defendants. Davis and Wein-
herg, the only witnesses who testified against
Hines with respect to those cases, were disrepu-
table underworld characters. Davis was a
disbarred lawyer, and Weinberg was a convieted
thief (fol. 2912). Both admitted that they had
perjured themselves on many prior occasions
(fols. 2014, 5145). Moreover, both Davis and
Weinberg had pleaded guilty to the indictnent
herein and were obviously testifving against
Hines, in the expectation of receiving considera-
tion for themselves. Under these circumstances,
it was most important that no extraneous or
irrelevant matter be permitted to becloud the
jury’s consideration of the real issue, to wit:
Did the defendant communicate with Magistrates
Capshaw and Erwin, as testified to by Davis and
Weinberg?

[nstead of limiting the evidence to that ques-

~tion, the Court made the alleged legal impro-

priety of the dismissals in the Magistrates’
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Court the dominant issue in the case. Through-
out the trial, great stress was laid upon the
violation of duty on the part of the Magistrates
in dismissing the charges, in the light of the
apparent sufficiency of the evidence before them,
showing constructive possession of poliey slips.
Judge Nott personally eross-examined Magls-
trate Capshaw and plainly indicated that he
disagreed with the Magistrate as to his theory
of the law of constructive possession. The same
subject was repeatedly referred to, both in the
summation of the Distriet Attorney and in Judge
Nott's charge to the jury. In short, the ques-
tion of whether the defendant had anvthing to
do with the Magistrates’” Court cases was con-
pletely subordinated to the issue of whether or
not the evidence hefore the Magistrates was
Jegally sufficient to show constructive possession
of poliey slips and whether they errved in dis-
missing the charges.

By asking the jury to pass upon the legal
propriety of the Magistrates’ decisions, the
Court made the defendant answerable for any
mistakes the Magistrates might have made and
placed upon the defendant the unfair burden of
attempting to justify their decizions from a legal
standpoint, lest the jury infer his guilt there-
from. Under the Court's c¢harge, the jury had
no alternative but to find that the charges had
heen improperly dismissed by the Magistrates,
By the =ame token, the defendant’s convietion
was a foregone conclusion, stnee the Court, in
effect, instructed the jury that it could infer
defendant’s guilt from the huproper dismissal

of the charges, even if it placed no credence in
the testimony of Davis or Weinberg. ‘

The devastating eoffeet of injecting into this
case the question of whether Magistrates Cap-

B¢
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shaw and Erwin had properly dismissed the

charges before them, cannot be underestimated.

The constant reference to the apparent suffi-
cieney of the evidence, and the conflict between
Judge Nott and Magistrate Capshaw as to law
of constructive possession, unquestionably ex-
aggerated the importance of that question in the
mind of the jury. The logical effect of submit-
ting to the jury lor its determination the ques-
tion of whether the Magistrates were “‘right or
wrong’’ in dismissing the charges, was to make
the jury’s verdiet dependent upon its finding in
that respect.  Under the Court's charge, il the
jury found that the Magistrates® decisions were
legally incorreect, they were at liberty to infer
not only that the Magistrates were dishonest,
but that the decisions were the vesult of corrupt
influence on the part of the defendant. Thus,
the legal sufficiency of the evidence before the
Magistrates was made an essential element in
the deternination of the defendant’s guilt, al-
though it was a eircumstance clearly bevond his
control,

In his eharge to the jury, Judge Nott indulges
in a lengthy dissertation upon the fallibility of
Judges and the danger of attributing improper
motives to the author of an unsound decision
(fols, T1216-11220). Judge Nott's action in this
case was directly contrary to the theory which
he expounds,  Under that theory, the [act that
Magistrates Capshaw and Frwin decided incor-
reetly could have no “‘evidentiary value” in de-
termining  whether they were corruptly influ-
enced (fol. 11219).  In referring to the Magis-
trates™ Court testimony, Judge Nott asks him-
self ““Why was it all let in?"" (fol. 11216). The
question is quite appropriate, in the light of his
concession that an erroneous decision does not
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imply dishonesty. If that be so, why was the
legal correctness of the decisions of Magistrates
Capshaw and FKrwin made an issue in this case
and why was the jury instructed to determine
whether the Magistrates were ‘‘right or wrong’
in discharging the defendants, upon the evidence
before them?

The harmful effect of Judge Nott’s action
might have heen lessened to some extent, if he
had charged, as requested by defendant’s coun-
sel, that in order to arrive at a conclusion that
the complaints in the Magistrates’ Court were
dismissed through defendant’s eorrupt influence,
the jury must at least believe the testimony of
Davis and Weinberg—the only witnesses who had
given any direct testimony on the subject. The
jury might then have understood that, even if
the decisions of the Magistrates were wrong, it
could not infer that the defendant was respons-
ible therefor, unless Davis and Weinberg were
telling the truth. When Judge Nott eliminated
the necessity of believing the testimony of Davis
and Weinberg, by refusing to charge as re-
quested, he conveyed the unmistakable mpres-
sion to the jury that it could infer the defend-
ant’s guilt from the mere fact that the charges
had been improperly dismissed by the Magis-
trates, since there was no other testimony in the
case upon which the jury could come to such a
conclusion.

Incidentally, it should be noted that, in refus-
ing to charge as requested with respect to Davis
and Weinberg, Judge Nott endorsed and adopted
the position taken by the Distriet Attorney in
swnmation, that the jury could conviet Hines
upon the records of the Magistrates® Court
hearings alone, and that ““You don’t even need
the testimony of Davis and Weinberg.”' (fol.
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10853). That statement by the Distriet Attor-
ney made the charge requested by defendant’s
sounsel particularly appropriate and necessary,
and made the refusal to so charge inflnitely more
damaging and prejudicial to the defendant.

In the Court below, the District Attorney con-
tended that the Magistrates’ Court testimony
was not introduced for the purpose of showing
that the disposition of the charges was legally
incorrect, but only for the purpose of showing,
from their questions, that Magistrates Capshaw
and Krwin had a preconceived determination to
dismiss the charges. It is difficult to see how a
jury could, with any degree ol accuracy, de-
termine the mental processex of a Judge, from
the questions which he asks in the course of a
judicial proceeding. The record in this case is
elear, however, that the sole purpose for which
the testimony was introduced and received, was
to establish that the evidence betore the Magis-
trates was sufficient to place them under a legal
duty to hold the defendants and that they aeted
contrary to law in dismissing the charges.

The Distriet Attorney revealed his purpose
immediately after the reading of the first trans-
eript, by making the following request of the
Court (fol. 1137):

“Mr. Dewey: Your Honor, solely in view
of the earlier decision of the Court, which
I think might leave some misapprehension
in the minds of the jury, I ask the Court to
instruct the jury now that the minutes have
been read on the raid on the Ison hank, flhat
from the minutes it 1s apparent that the
Magistrate was under a legal duiy to hold
the twenty-six defendanis there and not dis-
charge them.” (Italics ours.)

Moreover, as already pointed out herein-
hefore, Judge Nott expressly directed the jury
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to determine, whether the Magistrate was ‘‘right
in discharging those men or whether he was
wrong’’ (fol. 11199), The jury could only de-
termine that fact by a consideration of the tes-
timony of the witnesses. At no time during the
trial did the Court attempt to limit the jury to
the uestion of whether the attitude or demeanor
of the Magistrates indicated that they had been
improperly approached. On the contrary, by his
charge, Judge Nott constituted the jury an ap-
pellate tribunal to sit in review of the legal
propriety of the Magistrates’ conclusions as to
the sufficiency of the evidence betore them. The
issue submitted to the jury was not whether the
Magistrates  acted  suspiciously,  bul  solely
whether they had decided the cases correctly.

The contention that the minutes were read
into evidence tor the purpose suggested by the
Distriet Attorney ix not only without the slight-
ext basis in fact, but manifestly absurd. To
even form an opinion as to what a Judge has
in mind in axking certain questions would require
at least a knowledge of the law and some ex-
perience in the trial of cases, neither of which
a jury of lavmen ix presumed to possess. loven
such an opinion could not be aecurate, and
would depend Targely upon how well one knows
the partienlar Judge involved.  Very often, as
this Court well knows, a Judge asks questions
From the beneh which indicate a purpose entirely
dilferent from that intended.  To permit the
qjury to speculate upon what was i the minds of
Magistrates Capshaw and FErwin in asking cer-
tain questions appearing in the record of the
hearings hetore them would, therefore, have heen
wholly hmproper in any event,

.

The admission into evidenee of the testimony
of the witnesses who appeaved before Magis.

trates Capshaw and FKrwin was improper for
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another equally sound and formidable rea-
son. The Civil Rights Law (&Sec. 12) and the
Code of Criminal Procedure (Sec. 8) both pro-
vide that a defendant in a ecriminal action is
entitled to be confronted by the witnesses ap-
pearing against him.  These statutes were
flagrantly violated by the reading into evidence
of testimony adduced on hearings to which the
defendant was not a party, given by witnesses
whom the defendant had no opportunity to cross-
examine.

It is futile to argue that the veracity of the
witnesses who appeared before the Magistrates
was not in issue in this case. The fact remains
that, under Judge Nott’s charge, the jury was
required to consider the testimony of those wit-
nesses in order to decide whether or not the
Magistrates had correectly dismissed the charges
before them. The jury could not properly decide
that issue unless 1t had the same opportunity to
observe and hear the witnesses in person, as the
Magistrates had.  Morcover, since it was an
issue which the jury was directed to take into
consideration as one of the elements in determin-
ing the defendant’s guilt, he was legally entitled
to cross-examine the witnesses u ipon whose testi-
mony that issue was to be decided. That prin-
eiple is not a mere technieality, but involves a
most fundamental vight (Malter of Greencbaim
v. Binglham, 200 N, Y. 343, 047).

For the reasons above sct {orth, appellant re-
spectfully  submits that the admission of the
Magistrates” Court testimony and the subinission
to the jury of the issue hazed Hzm'mm as to the
legal propricty of the Magistrates’ decixions,
was wholly,improper and highlv prejudicial to
the defendant and, apart from anv other con-
sideration, warrants o reversal of the judament
of conviction herein.




POINT IV

The conspiracy count is fatally defective,
it appearing from the face of the indictment
that no overt act in furtherance of the con-
spiracy occurred within the statutory period
of limitations.

- The erime of conspiracy, being a misdemeanor,
is subject to a two year period of limitation
(See. 142, Code of Criminal Procedure).

From the face of the indictment in this case,
it appears that the last overt act in furtherance
of the conspiracy charged occurred on April 26th,
1936 ~more than two years prior to the filing of
the indictment.

Appellant contends therefore that, under the
provisions of Section 533 of the Penal Law, as
supplemented by Section 398 of the Code of
Criminal Procedure, the conspiracy count is in-
ralid on its face.

Section D83 of the Penal Law provides as
follows:

CCOVERT ACTS. WHEN NECESSARY,

No agreement, exeept to commit a felony
upon the person of another, or to conumnit
arson or burglary, amounts to a conspiracy,
unless some act besides such agreement be
done to effeet the objeet thereof by one oy
motre of the parties to such agreement.”

Sectton 398 of the Code of Criminal Procedure
provides:

“Upon a trial for a conspiraey, in a ecase
whore an overt aet i necessary to constitute
the erime, the defendant cannot be convieted
unless one or more overt acts he expressiv

-3
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alleged in the indictment, nor unless one or
more of the acts alleged be proved; but any
other overt act not alleged in the indictment
may he given in evidence.”’

These provisions, obviously, make the doing of
an overt act an essential ingredient of the erime
of conspiracy. Since no agreement to commit a
erime ““amounts to a conspiracy’’, unless some
act be done to effect the object thereof, the erime
is not complete until the overt act is done. Thus,
the commission of the crime depends upon the
overt aet, and the unlawful agreement or com-
bination, without the overt act, iz insufficient to
constitute the c¢rime.

The People assert, however, that, while Sec-
tion 398 provides that one or more overt acts
must be alleged in the indietment. it does not
erpressly provide that anv of such overt aets
must oceur within the statutory period of limi-
tations.  Upon that ground. the People contend
that the indietment in this ease mecets the re-
quirements of Seetion 398, as it alleges fifteen
overt acts, even though none of them oceurred
within the period of limitations,

At the outset, it should be noted that the posi-
tion which the People take is inconsistent. They
concede the necessity of procing an overt act
within the Statute of Timitations, although See-
tion 398 contains no erpress requirement there-
for, but, upon that very ground. thev denv anyv
obligation to plead it.  An analveis of the perti-
nent statutes and a consideration of the purposes
thereof, however, readily demonstrate that the
People’™s position is nntenahle,

Sinee there ean be no valid hasis for a charge
of eonspivacy unless an overt aet he done fo
effect the objeet thereof, the Taw necessarily im-
phes that such act must be done within the
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statutory period of limitations. Otherwise, the
Statute of Limitations would be completely nulli-
fied, with respeet to the erime of conspiraey. By
the same token, when the Legislature, by Section
398, declared that no defendant may be con-
vieted of conspiracy unless one or more overt
acts be pleaded and proved, it necessarily im-
plied also, that one or more of such acts to he
g0 pleaded and proved, must be within the period
ol limitations.

I the theory urged by the People were to be
adopted, it would produce a result directly con-
trary to the manifest purpose of the statute.
Under the plain language of Section 398, a de-
fendant can be convieted upon proof of one or
more of those overt acts alleged in the ndict-
ment.  Obviously, therefore, at least ““one or
more’’ of the overt acts alleged in the indictment
must be within the period of limitations. Other-
wise, il all of the overt acts alleged in the indiet-
ment were already barred by the Statute of
Limitations, the erime would be fully established
by proof of “one or more™ of those barred acts.

The diffieulty with the theory urged by the
People 1x that it relies upon a prineiple which
prevailed under the old common law, but is no
longer in foree, since the enactment of the stat-
utes making an overt act an essential ingredient
ol the erime of conspiracy. and providing that
the doing ol such act must be pleaded and proved
as a condition precedent to convietion. Under
the old common law, the unlawful agreement or
combination itself constituted the erime.  The
overt acts were considered merely evidentiary of
the agreement.  That rule, as shown by the deci-
sions, his heen completely disearded in those
qurisdietions wheve statutes were enacted con-
taining =pecific requirements as to overt aets,
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The precise question involved here was passed
upon by the United States Supreme Court on
several occasions. Those decigions are applicable
~and controlling in this State, as the Federal con-
spiracy statutes contain substantially the same
provision as ours with respect to the necessity
for overt acts. Section 5440 of the U. 8. Re-
vised Statutes (now U. 8. Crim. Code, See. 37),
provides as follows: '

“If two or more persons eons].)ire either to
commit any offense against the United States,
or to defraud the United States in any
manner or for any purpose, and one or more
of such parties d() any act to effect the ob-
ject of the conspiracy, each of the parties tn
such conspiracy shall be fined not more tha:
$10,000, or nupusnned not more ﬂmn t\\ 0
years, or hoth.’

In Hyde v. United States, 225 U. 8. 307, the
Supreme Conrt, writing through Mz, J H‘*f*((‘ Me-
Kenna, considered every phase of the question
and said:

“It is contended by the detendants that
the conspiracy—the union in an unlawiul
purpc;»owmmtituto\' the erime and that the
requirement of an overt act does not give the
offense eriminal quality or extent, but that
the provision of the statute in regard to such
act merely affords an opportunity to with-
draw from the design without incurring its
eriminality (ealled in the eases a locus pent-
fentiae)y, * * %

“Indeed, it must be said that the cases
abound with statemients that the conspivacy
is the ‘eist’ of the offense or the “uravamen’
of it, and we realize the strength of the
argument bhased upon them. But we think
the argument insists too exactly on the an-
cient Jaw of conspiracy, and does not give
effect to the change made in it by Section
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5440, supra. Tt is true that the conspiracy—
the unlawtul combination—has been said to
he the erime, and that at common law it
wag not necessary to aver or prove an overt
act; but Section 5440 has gone bevond such
rigid abstraction and preseribes, as neces-
sarv to the offense, not only the unlawful
conspiracy, bhut that one or more of the
parties must do an ‘act to effect’ its object,
and provides that when such act is done ‘all
the parties to such conspiracy’ become liable.
Interpreting the provision, it was decided in
Hyde . Shine, 199 U. S, 62, 76, 50 L. ed.
90, 94, 25 Sup. Ct. Rep. 760, that an overt
act ix necessary to complete the offense. And
g0 it was said in United States r. Hirsch,
100 T. S, 33, 25 L. ed. 540, recognizing that
while the combination of minds in an unlaw-
ful purpose was the foundation of the
offense. an overt act was necessary to com-
plete it. '

“Tt seems like a eontradiction to sayv that
a thing Iz necessary to complete another
thing, and vet that other thing is complete
without it. It =eems like a paradox to say
that anvthing. to quate the Solicitor General,
‘can he a crime of which no court can take
cognizance.” The couspiracy, therefore, cai-
not alone constitule the offense. It needs
the addition of the vrert aci. Such act is
comething more. therefore. than evidence of
a conspiracy. It constitutes the execution
or part eveculion of the conspiracy and all
incur quilt by ity or rather complete their
aguilt by it consiwmmating a_ crime by it
cognizable {tlen Ly the judicial tribunals,
sueh tribunals anly thew acquiring jurtsdie-
tion.”” {Ttalics ours.)

The relationship of the overt aects to the con-
spitacy and their effect in determining the appli-
eation of the Statute of Limitations was specifi-
callvy considered in Brown v. Ellioft, 225 T, K,
3092, 401, where the Supreme Conrt held squarely
that the statute runs {rom the date of the las!
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overt act alleged in the indictment. The Court
there said, in part:

“In Lonabaugh ». U. 8., 179 Fed. 4706, the
Circuit Court of Appeals for the lighth Cir-
cuit considered the relation of the overt acts
to the conspiracy and their effect in deter-
mining the application of the statute of
limitations. The Court said (p. 478) by
Mr. Justice Van Devanter, then Circuit
Judge: “While the gravamen of the offense
is the conspiracy, the terms of Sec. 50
are such that there must also be an overt
act to make the offense complete’ (Hyde .
Shine, 199 U. S. 62, 76); and so_the period
of limitation must be computed from the
date of the overt act, rather than the forma-
tion of the conspiracy. dAnd where during
the existence of the conspiracy there are
successive overt acts, the period of limita-
tion must be computed from the date of lhe
last of them of which there is appropriate
allegation and proof, and this although some
of the earlier aects may have occurred more
than three vears before the indictment was
found.”” (Italies ours.)

To the same effect, see:

[Tnited States v. McElvain, 272 T. 8. 633,
where an indietment for econspiraey was dis-
missed beeause it failed to allege the doing of
an overt act within the statutory period.

Also, Hedderly v. United States, 193 Fed. 581,

Tn another case, United Siates v. Milner, 36
Fed. 890, the Court said:

“¢An aet to effect the objeet of the con-
spiracy therefore hecomes a material matter,
and it must be alleged and proved will (e
wsual certainty required in eriminal plead-
ings. See 1 Chitty Criminal Law, page 169.7
(Ttalies ours.) ‘

These decisions are directly in point and
squarely overrule the theory that the statute
l A A
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runs from the date of the last overt act proved,
rather than from the last overt act pleaded in
the indictment. ,

In its Per Curiam Opinion of affirmance in the
case at bar the Court below contends that an
indictment for conspiracy need not allege an
overt act within the statutory period of limita-
tion, by virtue of the fact that:

““Section 398, Code of (‘riminal Procedure
provides that overt acts not alleged in the
indictment may be given in evidence.”’

The inelusion of that permissive clause, how-
ever, does not destroy the mandatory require-
ment that at least one overt act must be pleaded
and proved. Concededly, the People may offer
proof of additional overt acts not pleaded in the
indictment. But they must start with a wvalid
charge in the first instance. They may corrobo-
rate the overt acts alleged in the indietment by
proof of additional acts not alleged. But they
cannot establish the erime in that manner:

“The right to offer evidence of overt acts
not pleaded in the indictinent to establish
the c¢rime of conspiracy within the period i
of Nmitations is a debatable one. While
such proof is admissible under section 398
of the Code of Criminal Procedure, it is
probable that, as said in United States
¢. Hosler, D. €. 50 Fed. 2nd 971, such proof
is only corrohorative of the overt acts
charged in the indictment. It would seem
that if overt acts alleged in the indictment
are barred, the establishment of an overt act
not so alleged, even though it occurs within
the period of limitations, is incompetent to
establish the proof of conspiraey.”

(Excerpt from deeision of Sehmuek, J.,
eranting certificate  of reasonable
doubt, reported at 12 N. Y. Supp.
(2nd) 454—People . Hines.)
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In the case cited by Judge Sehmuck (United
States v. Hoster, 50 Fed. (2nd) 971, the Court
said:

““The prosecution will, of course, be en-
titled to offer proof of any of the twelve
overt acts alleged, and my appreciation of

‘ the law is that others may be shown, but
only as corroborative of those charged, but
the defendants could not be convicted unless
the prosecution successfully established at
least one of the acts alleged.”’

The decision of the Court of Appeals in People
v. Tavormina, 257 N. Y. 84, is not applicable
to the guestion at issue in this case and does
not, in any sense, conflict with the Federal de-
cisions. In that case the Court was not concerned
with the sufficieney of the indictinent or the
Statute of Limitations, and the inference which
the People seek to draw from the language of
that deeizion is unwarranted. The sole question
there involved was whether the conspiracy
merges in the substantive erime committed pur-
suant to the conspiracy. In reaching his conclu-
sion that the conspiracy and the substantive
erime are s=eparate and distinet erimes, Judge
Hubbs obgerved that:

““The crime of conspiracy does not consist
of both the conspiraey and the acts in carry-
ing it out, but of the conspiraey alone,”

Standing alone, that statement might be in-
TWPITWN 2 A TUINE WL W It e
ment in and of itself, constitutes the erime. Upon
a consideration of the entire opinion, in relation
to the question involved, it hecowes readily ap-
parent that Judge Hubbs did not intend to rule
that overt acts were not essential ingredients
of the erime ol conspiracy.
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If the statement were so construed, his ruling
would be directly contrary to the provisions of
the Penal lLaw that *‘No agreement * * *
amounts to a conspiracy unless some act besides
such agreement be done to effect the object
thereof”’. It would also be in conflict with the
purpose of the Legislature in preseribing, as
a procedural requirement, that ‘“‘the defendant
annot be convieted unless one or more overt
acts be expreszly alleged in the indictment, nor
unless one or more of the acts alleged be
proved”’. .

The carlier decizions decided under the com-
mon law, and the cases in other jurisdietions
having no statutory requirements similar to our
own, are not applicable.  The later decisions
dispel all doubt on the subjeet and demonstrate
conclusively that, in order to constitute a valid
charge of conspivacy, af Teast one overt act within
the statwtory period of limitations must be al-
leged in the indictinent.

The final theory advanced by the People—that
even though the indictinent fails to allege the
doing of an overt act within the period of limi-
tations, prool” of =uch act may be supplied at the
trial—is ill-founded.  The law is well settled
that a defective indictment cannot be cured hy
prool, People v, Vaw Feery, 222 N Y. 74, 78,

POINT V

The evidence failed to establish the exis-
tence of the conspiracy, or the commission of
an overt act in furtherance thereof, within
the statutory period of limitations.

From the testimony addueed upon the trial of
this acetion. it appears conclusively that the eon-
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spiracy charged in the indictment expired upon
the death of Duteh Schultz, in October, 1935.
Schultz concededly created the policy combina-
tion upon which the charge is founded and he
dominated and controlled it until the day of his
death. He was the supreme overlord of the com-
bination and it was his reputation as a notorious
gangster and gunmnan that was the cohesive force
which held it together.

The testimony further shows that Schultz die-
tated all the policies of the combination and
directed all its activities. He appropriated as
much of the profits derived from the business of
the combination as he desired. He threatened,
ordered, directed—in short—it was just another
of his many criminal ““rackets™.

It appears further, from the undisputed evi-
dence, that tnmnediately aflter Schultz’s death, a
new “mob” of Italian criminals took over his
poliev business and thereafter operated it from
New  Jersey  (fols. 4696-4703):  that  Davis,
Schultz’s chief aide and adviser, fled to New
Mexico (fol. 5053) : and that Weinherg, the man-
ager of the combination. and Schoenhaus, his
assistant, became salaried emplovees of the new
owners (fol. 4702).

Tt i not eontended for a moment that poliev
plaving ceased entirely upon Schultz’s death.
Some of the poliey bankers who were foreed into
the original combination by Sehultz did eontinue
to operate thereafter; but those hankers operated
independently, not as a combination, and there
was no longer any central organization or pool-
ing of profits, as theretofore.

Moreover, while it is elaimed in the testimony
that appellant rendered certain services on he-
half of the poliey combination prior to Sehultz’s
death, the record iz barren of any evidence of
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such services after Schultz died. Schultz was
the man who allegedly employed appellant and
appellant’s "connection with the policy combine
was based entirely upon his personal relation-
ship with Schultz. Obviously, that relationship
ended upon Schultz’s death.

It is conceivable, of course, that after Schultz
died, some of his former asgsociates could have
gotten together and agreed among themselves to
continue operating the policy games as a com-
bination, and that they could have renewed the
agreement allegedly made with appellant hy
Schultz. But there is not a word of evidence in
the record showing any concerted action of any
kind with respect to the operation of poliey
games after Schultz died. On the contrary, the
evidence clearly indicates that when Schultz died,
the combination died with him, and appellant’s
connection with it, if any, permanently ceased.

To bring the conspiracy charge within the
Statute of Limitations, however, the prosecution
attempted to show that monevs were paid to
appellant Jong after Schultz’s death, even though
the policy combine no longer existed and even
though appellant was never called upon to render
any services of anv kind in connection therewith,
after Sehultz died. Two witnesses were used for
that purpose: Weinherg, a confessed habitual
perjurer, and Schoenhaus, his assistant and the
former hookkeeper of the combination. Tnsofar
as Weinberg ig concerned, the attempt proved
abortive, as his testimony fell far short of the
purpose for which it was obvioml\' intended.

At folios 2813 to 2819 of the Reeord, Weinberg
testified that, at a mmhnfz between Sehultz,
Davis, appellant and himself, held in June, 1935,
at the Stratford Hotel in Bridgeport, Conneeti-
cut, Schultz reduced appellant’s salary to $230.00
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a week. The Court then asked the following
questions and Weinberg gave the following an-
swers, folio 2820

““Q. Well, on how many oc¢casions after this
Bridgeport conversation that you have just
told us about, did you personally give any
money to Hines? A. Well, not many.

G L A s ey i po G

recalleationd. AL T dandicheliane onna e,
than two times. _

“@Q. Do vou remember how mueh you
gave him on each of those two occasions?
A. No, I don’t remember.”’

Immediately after giving this testimony in re-
sponse to questions by the Court, Weinberg tes-

tified as follows, in answer to questions by the
Distriet Attorney (fols. 2822 to 2823):

“By Mr. Dewey:

Q. After the fall of 1935, did you give
any money to Hines, or into the yvear 193062
A. Yes, going into 19306.

“Q. How often did yvou give money to
Hines in the vear 19367 A, Well, mayle
seven or elght times or so during that time.

“Q. During that vear, and in what sums
were those made? A, Well, they were made
in sums of generally a thousand dollars.

“Q. And what conversation was there
about what the sum was for at that time,
during those times? A, There was just no
conversation. He started in asking me how
am I doing and T said, ‘T will see yvou again
some other time.’

“Q. And was there anvthing said about
what the period was, ecovered by that
money? A, We didn’t make any arrange-
ments on that. T wmean, I didn’t say any-
thing abowt how long it would be for.”’

It will be ohserved that Weinherg's answers
to the questions propounded by the Court di-




~
st

Weinberg’s testimony, which was given on the
mistrial before Judge Pecora, was read into evi-
dence on the present trial, Weinberg having com-
mitted suicide in the meantime.

Apparently realizing the insufficieney of Wein-
berg’s testimony, the Distriet Attorney attempted
to bolster it up through Schoenhaus. On direct
examination (fol. 4492) Schoenhaus tried to
make it appear that Schultz’s death caused no
change in the operations of the poliev combina-
tion and mtimated that he and Weinberg con-
tinued to run a policy bank just as before. IHe
also swore that ““about every four weeks" he,
Schoenhaus, gave Weimnberg $1,000 to give to
appellant, and that the pavments by lam {0
Weinberg continued until October, 19306.

On ecross-examination, however, the falsity of
both Schoenhaus’s and Weinberg's testimony
was instantly revealed.

By My, Strvker, folio 4698

. So, 1t 1soa faet, isn't it that rieht
after Nehultz’s death, the Ttalians moved in
and took charge of this poliey business? A,
Yes,”

At folio #702:

Q. Tn other words, Schoenhaus, from the
time of Schultz’s death to the time of vour
indictment, the Ttalians moved in and oper-
ated thoxe banks: is that vight? AL Yes, sir.

“Q. And  during  that peviod you and
Weinberg were merely salaried omplovees
of these Ttalian criminals? AL Yes,”

Thus, during the very period that Schoenhaus
was allegedly giving Weinherg money for appel-
lant, both he and Weinberg were in the employ
of persons who had not bheen conneeted in anv
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not appear on the scene until after Schultz was
killed. Schoenhaus’s testimony is definite proof
that the original conapn&c} died with Schultz.
Just as Schultz, in 1931, had taken over the
policy business by foree from others, so too, a
new ‘““mob’’ of ITtalian eriminals stepped In and
took it over at his death. Schoenhaus admitted
that neither he nor Weinberg had any financial
interest in the business after Schultz’s death, be-
ing salaried employees only, Weinberg receiving
a salary of $200 a week, and Schoenhaus $75 a
week., Neither Schoenhaus, nor Weinberg, nor
any other witness claimed that appellant had
entered into any arrangement with the “‘Ital-
ians”’, and no witness even suggested that appel-
lant knew who they were.

In the light of Schoenhaus’s testimony, there
was 1o basis upon whieh the jury could find that
the conspiracy charged in the indictment con-
tinued bevond Sehultz’s death. The story about
p‘l\‘meni‘q to appellant after Sehultz died was an
obvious attempt to injeet life into a dead corpse,
for the purpose of reviving a charge legally
harred from prosecution. In any event, those
paviments could not constitute overt acts in fur-
therance of the congpiracy charged in the indiet-
went, in view of the positive proof that the
conspiracy no longer existed at the time thev
Swere allegedly made, the poliey business having
been taken over by entirely new interests with
whom appellant had no connection.

The theory upon which Judge Nott «11‘331&1%%&1@;%

]

* .A

Amitations to the

the question of the Statute ol
Jury has no application to the situation m‘@smﬂwci
by the evidence,  In charging the jury, after a
request for further mstructions, Judge Nott said
(fol. T1283): ’
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““If a conspiracy is once proved to exist,
and a defendant is proved to have partici-
pated in that conspiracy, then he is pre-
sumed to remain in the conspiracy, unless
there is evidence showing that he withdrew
from the conspiracy and disassociated him-
self from it and left it.”’

- Unquestionably, a conspiracy once established,
is presumed to continue. Here, however, that
presumption was completely destroved by the
positive proof that the business of the conspiracy
passed into other hands upon the death of the
main conspirator. After Schultz died, there was
no longer any conspiracy in existence from which
appellant could withdraw or disassociate himself.
Concededly, if nothing had happened to disrupt
the conspiracy, appellant would have heen obliged
to show that he withdrew before the two vear
periods of limitations. Schultz’s death and the
taking over of the business by the new mob of
Italians, however, not only (l;smpted the con-
spiracy, bhut ended it, insofar as appellant was
concerned.

Upon reading that portion of Judge Nott's
charge which relates to the question of the
Statute of Limitations, it hecomes readily appar-
ent that, in submitting the question to the jury,
he acted under a mistake of fact as to the testi-
mony. He charged the jury as follows (fol.
11145) :

“Let me say here, however, there is one
question that comes in in the conspiracy
count that is not present in the felony
count, and that is the Statute of Limitations.
The Statute of ILimitations for isde-
meanors is two years. The indictiment was
found about May 27th or 26th, 1938, There-
fore, there has to be some proof of the exis-
tence of the conspiracy and the overt act
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later than May 23, 1936, that is to say, within

- the two-year limitation. That is a guestion
for yvou to decide. That is a disputed point.
The defendant’s contention is that soon after
the murder of Duteh Schultz this conspiracy
9\'apomted came to an end; that while some
of these people continued to play or partici-
pate in this lottery policy business, they did
not do so under the original combination or
conspiracy charged in fhe indictment. On
the other hand, the People’s contention is
that they did continue even after the death
of Schultz to participate in that conspiracy,
and that the defendant, according to the
textimony of one witness, 1 thlnl\ Schoen-
haus, was paid by Schoonhaus for his ser-
vices, the same services he had been render-
g, as late as October, 1936, which would be
within the Statute of Limitations.

“1t ix for you to determine conflicting
claims.  The defendants claim that the eon-
spiracy ended when they took new positions
under a new auspices with other employvers.
The People’s elaim is that the original con-
spiracy did persist and that the defendant
was paid for his services within the Statute
of Limitations. Now that ix for vou to de-
termine, It vou find that the Statute of
Limitations has run against the conspiracy,
the misdemeanor count, vou will aecquit on
that, and you will then take up the question
of the felonies.”

1t will he observed that Judege Nott was under
the erroncous nmpression that Schoenhaus had
testilied that he personally made payments to
appellant “*as late as October 19367, After the
jury had retived and had deliberated for some
time, Judge Nott reahzed his miistake and re-
charged the jury as fellows (fol. 11284):
STomight sav herey examining the evi-
denee, T inadvertently made one statement
to yvou that wax incorreet, | stated that
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Schoenhaus testified that he personally paid
the defendant moneys as late as October,
1936. T find upon looking the matter up
that he testified that he paid Weinberg the
money to pay this defendant. Weinberg
testified that he paid the defendant seven or
eight times in 19306, but he did not state how
late in 1936 those payments extended.”

Judge Nott made no mention of Weinberg’s
testimony in his original charge. That Tlaet,
coupled with the fact that, when he re-charged
the jury. he admitted that Weinberg did not
state ““how late in 1936 those payments ex-
tended’’, indicates very definitely that Judge
Nott did not consider Weinherg's testimony evi-
dence of an overt act within the period of limita-
“tions. In his original charge, he submitted the
(question to the jury 'solely upon the theory
that Schoenhaus had testified that he personally
had paid moneys to appellant as late as October
1936, 1f, at that time, Judge Nott had realized
that Schoenhaus didd not =0 testifv, it is reason-
able to assume that he would not have submitted
the c¢uestion to the jury at alll as the only
other testimony with respeet to payments, was
Weinberg's, which testimony  he admittedly
deemed insufficient.

The uncertainty in Judge Nott's mind, as to
the question of the Statute of Limitations, is
farther apparent {rom the following ohservation
which he made in ruling upon a motion to dis-
miss the conspiracy charge, at the end of the
People's case ({ol. 6836) :

“Now, as to the misdemeanor count, to
my mind there is a troublesome guestion
there on the Statnte of Limitations.  The
evidence to my mind iz not clear and more
or less conflieting on that peint.”’
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The testimony of Weinberg and Schoenhaus
as to the pavment of moneys to appellant after
Schultz died is unquestionably in confliet with
the undisputed evidence in the record that the
poliev combination was not even in existence
at  that time. But neither Weinberg’s nor
Schoenhaus’s testimony, even if assumed to be
true, presented anv question of faet upon which
the application of the Statute of Limitations
depended.

Certainly Weinberg's testimony raised no such
ixsue, since he did not testify that he paid any
money fo appellant after May 26th. 1936, or
at any time within the statutory period. Nor
does Schoenhaus’'s testimony raise such Issue,
for two reasons: [Flirst, appellant was not con-
nected in any wav with the pavments allegedly
made to Weinberg, and there was no evidence
showing that the money ever reached appellant.
Secaond, such pavinents cannot he construed as
overt acts in fartherance of the conspiracy
charged in the indictment, in any event, as the
“combination’ upon which that charge is predi-
ated was no longer in existence when the pav-
ments were allegedly made.

Suppose Schoenhaus did give money to Wein-
berg for appellant after Sehunltz died.  What
were those moneys to he paid for and on whaose

hehalf were thev to he paid?  Weinhere and
Schoenhaus weére no longer interested in any

“eombination™. They were salaried emplovees
of persons who had never heen connected with
the original conspiracy. No relationship existed
hetween them and appellant which required the
making of anv pavments. Certainly, mere pav-
ments, unless made for services in conneetion
with the eonspiracy charged in the indictment,
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cannot constitute overt acts in furtherance of
that conspiracy.

While, therefore, the claim that payments were
made to appellant after Schultz died created a
conflict in the testimony, in the sense that it con-
flicted with the obvious truth, it did not create
any conflict in respect to the applicability of the
statute. That claim, palpably perjurious as it
was, did not prove that the conspiracy charged
in the indichment was in existence after May
26th, 1936, or that any overt act in furtherance
of that conspiracy was done after that date.

That the jurv did not believe either Weinberg’s
or Schoenhaus’s story is apparent from the fol-
lowing question which they submitted to Judge
Nott after deliberating for some time:

“If it were found that defendant partici-
pated in the conspiracy prior to May 26th,
1936, and although the conspiracy continued
after that date, the defendant was not shown
to have been guilty of any overt act or to
have recelved money therefrom, would the
statute of lmitations apply.”

In response to this question Judge Nott made
the ohservation quoted above (fol. 11283) that:

“Tf a conspiraey is once proved to exist,
and a defendant is proved to have partici-
pated in that conspiracy, then he is presumed
to remain in the conspiracy, unless there is
evidence showing that he withdrew from the
conspiracy and disassoctated himself from
it and left it.”’

1t is obvious, therefore, that, although the jury
did not believe that any monevs had heen paid
to or for appellant after May 26th, 19306, theyv
were, nevertheless, impelled to deecide the ques-
tion of the Statute of Limitations adversely to
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him, on the theory that affirmative evidence of
his withdrawal was necessary. That theory, as
already indicated, while sound law, has no rele-
vancey in this case. Here the testimony shows
that the poliecy combination was destroyed by
the death of the chief conspirator and that the
business of the combination was taken over byv
others with whom appellant concededly had no
connection. The destruction of the combination
obviated the necessity of withdrawing and there
was nothing left to withdraw from. The only
way in which appellant could affirmatively with-
draw,—as Judge Nott charged was necessary,——
would be by hunting up the members of the
original combination who remained alive after
Schultz died, and entering into a formal agree-
ment of dissolution with them.

It is apparent, therefore, that the jury’s ver-
dict on the question of the Statute of Limitations
was based upon an erroneous application of the
faw.  They clearly indicated, by their question to
the Court, that they dishelieved the testimony of
Weinberg and Schoenhaus as to payments to
appellant after Schultz died. The only plausible
explanation for their verdiet is that thev under-
stood, from Judge Nott's charge, that it was
incumbent upon appellant to signify his with-
drawal by some affrmative act, even though the
evidence showed that no policy games were oper-
ated under the original combination or conspiracy
charged in the Indictment after Schultz died, or
at any time within the statutory period of limi-
tations,

That no poliey games were operated by the
combination after Schultz died is further evi-
denced hy the faet that the last substantive
offense alleged in the ndictment oceurred on
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October 22nd, 1935, at or about the time of his
death. It must be borne in mind that, according
to the theory of the prosecution, each day’s
operation of the policy games constituted a sepa-
rate contriving, proposing and drawing of a
lottery. The Distriet Attorney admitted that he
picked the dates out at random and that, execept
for the fact that he did not wish to mnake the
indictment unwieldy, he could have charged a
separate substantive violation for every day on
which the game was operated. That being so,
the question presents itselt: Why do all the
substantive offenses alleged in the indietment
fall within the period prior to Schultz’s death?
The answer is obvious—there were no policy
games operated by the combination after Schultz
died.

POINT VI

The Court erred in permitting the testi-
mony of the deceased witness Weinberg o
be read into evidence, and in refusing to
permit any inquiry into the circumstances of
his suicide.

At the mcompleted trial of thiz defendant
resulting in a mistrial upon the withdrawal of
a juror because of improper eross-examination
hy the Distriet Attorney, George Weinberg, an
important witness for the People, was called,
examined, and cross-examined by the defendant.
After the commencement of the trial resulting
in the judgment of convietion appealéd {rom
and before hie was called as a witness {ar the
People, Weinherg committed suiecide.

In rehance upon Code of Criminal Procedure,
Section 8, his testimony at the mistrial was
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offered in evidence. Objection and exception
was taken to its adwmixsibility generally (fol.
1971). Further, the defendant sought to prove
the eircumstances ol Weinherg’s suicide. It is
understood that Weinberg pleaded guilty to all
counts of the indictment before the mistrial and
that he then, with other witnesses in the case,
all convieted felons awaiting sentence, was per-
mitted by an order of a justice of the Supreme
Court to be removed from the City Prison and
housed in a residence in the County of West-
chester, where they were supposedly under police
guard. Through the negligence, it was claimed,
of one of these guards, Weinberg was enabled
to procure the officer’s pistol and with it he
shot and killed himself. The Court, however,
refused to permit any inquiry into the circum-
stances of Weinberg’s suicide, to which objection
was duly made (fols. 1962, 2119). The testi-
mony of Weinberg was thereupon read to the
jury. That testimony is the only source of
proof of some of the most important and essen-
tial elements of the People’s case against the
appellant.

Two serious errors, the appellant contends,
were t therehy com 1.1_tt¢3 d:

Code of Criminal Procedure, Section 8, so far
as material, reads as f}l}m\b.

“Weetion 8 Rights of defendant In 2
criminal action.

In a eriminal action the defendant is en-
titled * > %

3. To produee witnesses in his behalf and
to he confronted with the wilnesses against
him in the presence of the court, except that
o % (d) where the defendant has pre-
rlousty been tried upon an indietment or in-
formation embracing the same charge, the
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testimony of any witness who has testified
upon such prior trial may be read in evi-
dence upon any subsequent trial of the same
indietment or information, upon it being sat-
isfactorily shown to the court that the wit-
ness is dead or insane, or can not with due
diligence be found in the state.”’

The italicized words, ‘‘has previously been
tried’’ furnish the grounds for the first assign-
ment of error, which is, that, where an attempted
trial results in the withdrawal of a juror and
therefore a mistrial because of misconduct on the
part of a prosecutor, the defendant has not been
tried in the sense in which that phrase is used in
Section 8, Subdivision 3-D. .

It does not appear that this exact question has
ever come before the courts of the State of New
York. Various situations have been presented,
falling to one side or the other of the problem.

In Taft v. Little, 178 N. Y. 127, the Court of
Appeals held that, where there had been a hear-
ing before a referee at which a witness had tes-
tified; the trial or hearing never having formally
terminated because of the death of the referee
hefore the evidence was finally submitted to him,
although both sides had rested; and the witness
himself having thereafter died; upon a subse-
uent hearing before a new referee the testi-
mony of the deceased witness might properly be
read in evidence.

Tt has also been held by the Court of Appeals
in People v. Elliott, 172 N. Y. 146, that upon a
second trial of an indiectment, a judgment of con-
vietion obtained at the first trial having been
reversed, the testimony of a witness at the first
trial, deceased at the time of the second trial,
may be properly read in evidence.
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These cases seem to proceed on the theory that
all of the evidence was before the trier of fact,
with a full and complete opportunity for cross-
examination.

But in other cases where this opportunity for
cross-examination was interfered with or where
the untimely termination of the trial was the
fault of the party seeking to read into evidence
the testimony of a witness since deceased, the
right to read such evidence has been consider-
ably curbed.

Such a case was Morley v. Castor, 63 App.

~

Div. 38, There the plaintiff sought to recover
a share of rents and profits. The case came on
for trial, and after the plaintiff had rested, the
defendant was called. In the course of his eross-
examination, a variance was developed between
his testimony and the allegations of his answer,
and a motion to conform the answer to the proof
was made,  Plaintiff’s counsel pleaded surprise,
and the Court held that he was entitled to an ad-
journment, ax the answer ought to be amended.
The plaintiff’s request for an adjournment was
thereupon granted; thereafter the answer was
amended and the action came on again to bhe
tried. Meanwhile, however, the witness whoge
eross-examination was interrupted and left in-
complete had died. Upon the retrial, his pre-
vious testimony was admitted under objeetion
and exception. It was held that this was error.
The Court said (p. 40):

1t ix contended, however, that as the wit-
ness had not completed his testimony and
there had not heen a trial, hut a mistrial, the
testimony  was Inadmissible.  This conten-
tion, we think, should be sustained., 1t was
not testimony given on a trial, for there was
none,  Besides, the exaunination of a witness
consists not alone of the direet but also of
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the cross, and a party eannot be deprived of
the right to cross-examine his adversary’s
witnesses.

He may waive the privilege as by default-
ing on the trial, or he may forfeit it through
his fault or by not taking advantage of the
opportunity, but he cannot be deprived of or
have such right taken away.

It is here conceded that on the cross-ex-
amination of (‘harles S. Morley, the witness
was interrupted by the discovery that the
evidence varied from the defense pleaded,
and the court was authorized upon the plain-
tiff’s counsel stating that he was surprised,

“to grant an adjournment, as he did, for the

purpose of enabling defendants to amend
their pleading. The contention of the de-
fendants that the plaintiff, had he so de-
sired, might have completed the cross-exami-
nation and, theretore, it is his own fault
that it was not completed, is without merit.
The trial was interrupted to enable defend-
ant to apply for the amendment, and until
that was granted or denied and a new trial
had, it was entively right to suspend further
examination of the witness. Therefore, the
cross-examination was prevented and ren-
dered incomplete by no fault of the plain-
tiff.””

It ust be conceded in the present case that
Weinberg's eross-examination, o far as desired
down to the time of the declaration of the mis-
trial, had been completed. 1t is entirely possible,
however, that hefore the conelusion of the taking
ol evidence, further e¢rosscexamination might
have heen rendered advisable and had it heen
requested, the Court would no doubt have heen
Justified, i not compelled, to grant it

People v. Secerance, 67 Hun 182, 22
N.Y.S0L
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Until the evidence on both sides is eompleted
and the case finally submitted to the jury, the
possibility always exists that cireumstances may
arise rendering further cross-examination not
only proper but imperative. The appellant had
not been tried theretofore; he had been mis-
tried; this fault was none of his, and the neces-

sary conditions for an admission of Weinberg’s
testimony, as laid down by Code of Criminal
Procedure, Section 8, Subdivision 3-d, therefore
did not exist, and the admission of the testimony
was error. It must be borne in mind that we are
dealing with a criminal statute, of which the ap-
pellant 1s entitled to a striet construction.

A further and equally substantial errvor, how-
ever, was committed in the refusal of the Court
to permit inquiry into the eireumstances of Wein-
herg’s death. _

The defendant sought to elicit sueh eireum-
stances, and from the record it appears that it
was contended and is, ax a matter of fact, more
or less general knowledge, that after the declar-
ing of the mistrial in thiz case an order was
made by Mr. Justice Pecora at the instance of
the District Attorney by which Weinberg and
other Pnnn]n < witneszes whoe had alse P}{)a(l(nd
guilty to thn indictment were removed from the
City Prigson and lodged outside of the eity in a
place known only to the Distriet Attorney and
his representatives, and that while they were in
this lodeing and supposedly under police or
other official guard. Weinherg, through the neg-
ligence of one of his keepers or guards, was en-
abled to procure the officer’s revolver and shoot
himself with it.

Proof of these facts, it ix submitted, would
have necessitated the exclusion of Weinberg's

statement.
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Motes v. United States, 178 . S. 458, presents
a strikingly similar sitvation. TUpon an appeal
frmn a judgment of convietion, it appeared that
one Tavior was an important witness against the
defendants. Tavlor was originally charged with
the same offense jointly with the appellants, but
became a witness for the Government and testi-
fied and was eross-exanmined at a preliminary
hearing. 1t then appeared from the testimony
of an agent of the Federal Government:

“That Tavlor and the other three defend-
ants on trml with him were held for trial by
the commissioner and committed to jail with-
out bail to await trial, and that since that
time the said Tayvlor has heen confined in the
Jefferson County, Alabama, jail under com-
mitment issued by said comnissioner; that
after the heginning of the present trial on
the 20th of Neptember, 1893, he went to the
jail, took said Taylor into his custody niore
imn two davs hefore said Tavlor escaped,
and that said Tavlor had not been in jail
since, but that he had placed him in (’h‘li"@
ol one Ed. Mav, a witness for the Goverr
nment in this ecase, and instrueted May to ﬂi
Tavlor stay at the hotel at night with his
familv, and that in pursnance of said in-
struetion Tavior remained at the hotel Tues-
dav night and Wednesday night hefore he
abseonded on Thursday: that he saw Tavlor
in the corridors of the court room ahout 10
o'cloek aan. Thursday, betere he was called
as a witness, about 11 o'clock the same day,
and that when Tavler failed to respond
he made a seareh for him in the eity n‘i' 3ir-
mingham, and To]vm'mhw? tn several places,
and could not find him or E arn anvthing at
all as to his whereabouts.’

Upon the trial, the foregoing facts heing
shown, the Court permitted the testimony of
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Tavlor on the preliminary examination to be
read in evidence against the defendants. The
Supreme Court of the United States held that
this was error, necessitating the reversal of the
convietion -against the del fendants therehy preju-
diced and wrote ax follows:

“We are of opinion that the admission in
evidence of Taylor’s statement or deposition
taken at the examining trial was in violation
of the constitutional nwht of the defendants
to be confronted with the witnesses against
them. It did not appear that Tarxlor was
abgent from the trial by the suggestion, pro-
curement or act of the accused. On the con-
trary, his absence was manifestly due to the
nemh(rvncv of the officers of the Government.
'Im]m was a witness for the prosecution.
He had heen committed to jail without bail
We have seen that the mi"i.('ml agent of the
Tnited States in violation of law took him
from jail after the trial of this case com-
menced, and strangely enough, placed him in
charge not of an officer but of another wit-
ness for the Government with instruections
to the latter to allow him to stav at a hotel
at night with his familv. And on the very
day when Tavlor was ‘called as a witness,
and within an hour of being called, he was
in the corridor of the court house. When

LR}

called to testify he did not appear.”

[f it bhe contended that in the decision of the
Motes case the Supreme Court was bound hy the
provision of the Federal Constitution necessitat-
ing confrontation of witnesses upon a eriminal
trial, the reply is that this right to confrontation
is no less a part of the hasie jm‘ix‘ﬁmdmw of
this State: for this requirement appeared in the
Bill of Rights and is noaw a part of {'mn }u&*hi\
Law, Seetion 12, The provisions 0&_ Code of
Criminal Procedure, Section 8, thv’rvé‘@rv;f@x@-

AN
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suppose that the absence or death of the witness
whose previous testimony is sought to be used
shall be in no way the fault of the People.

The appellant stands convicted upon the tes-
timony of Weinberg, a convicted felon and ad-
mitted perjurer, and the eredibility of Weln-
herg's testimony in this trial has never been
passed upon by any jury which saw him on the
stand and heard him testify.  This is not the
appellant’s fault, The mistrial was caused by
the People through the misconduct of thelr rep-
l'c‘sent'wi\'@ the Distriet Attorney. At the in-
stance of the Pecple’s officer, the Distriet Attor-
ney, and, it would appear from the record, some-
what against the hetter judgment of the Justice
of the Suapreme Court who made the order,
Weinberg was taken from the City Prison and
lodged in a dwelling house in the custody of
armed guards.  Through the negligence of one
ol these guards, the Peaple’s servant, Weinberg
was enabled (o procure the guard’s weapon and
kill humsel with it, something which certainly
would not have happened in the City Prison.
Through no fault of his own, therefore, hut
solelv through a =eries of caveless and 1m-
proper acts on the part of the People’s represen-
tatives, the appellant has heen deprived of the
invaluable and invielable vight of heing con-
fronted with the witnesses against him in the
presence of the court by which he was fimally
convicted.,  The refusal of the trial judge fo
permit any inguiry which would have enahled
him to demonstrate this for the purpose of the

wuml and bring himself” within the principle of

he Motee ease, and the eventual admission of
Hw festimony, are errors compelling a reversal
of this judgment.
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POINT VII

The judgment of conviction should be
reversed.

Respectfully submitted,

Litreeron & LEvy,
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant,
Office and Post Office Address,
149 Broadway,
New York City.

Irvine GOLDBERG,
Rricuarp H. Browx,

Of Counsel.




